
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, MARCH 23, 2021 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

6:30 PM 

 

IN-PERSON MEETING AT 214 GRAND AVENUE COMMUNITY ROOM 

 

APPROPRIATE FACE COVERINGS ARE REQUIRED WHILE INSIDE THE BUILDING.  
 

 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 
1. Cassandra Shenk – Re-thinking Conflict Presentation Offer 

Staff Reports 
2. Administrator’s Report 

Public Works & Utilities Report 

Police Report 

Finance Report 

Attorney Report  

Treasurer's Report 

      3. Treasurer’s Report 

Disbursements 
4. Disbursements 

 

Consent Agenda 

5. Regular Minutes: 

March 9, 2021 

Work Session: 

March 16, 2021 

Special Event Liquor License: 

Friends of the Paradise Theatre – Poulos Park Concert Series 

Standard Liquor License Renewal: 

Thomas Waldo’s 

The Flying Fork 

Unfinished Business 
6. Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 - First Read 

New Business 
7. Large Park Event: The Learning Council - Town Park Farmers Market 

8. Resolution 2021-05 Local Disaster Declaration Extension 

9. Discussion Requested by Finance and Personnel Committee - Updating Board of Trustees Meeting 

Schedule 

10. Discussion - Grand Avenue Street Closure Policies 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

Mayor’s Report 
11. Mayor’s Report 

Committee Reports 
12. Finance & Personnel 

    Discussion Requested by Finance and Personnel Committee - Setting Staff Priorities 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Adjournment 
  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the even the Board plans to discuss more than one 

of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the announcement 

of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into executive session, 

there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



 

March 18, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Cassandra Shenk – Re-thinking Conflict Presentation Offer 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes as provided by Ms. Shenk: 

 

This would be community service offered by the Lambert Grange #439.  

 

We are a fraternal organization, dating back to the 1860's and devoted to community building 

and agriculture.  We are non-partisan, yet have a legislative voice at the State and Federal 

level.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

5



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Public Works & Utilities Report 

Police Report 

Finance Report 

Attorney Report  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

UNF - unfounded 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

6



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

  

Administrators Report for March 23, 2021 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight for included packet 
documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

Previous Meeting Follow-up: 

1. The Colorado Forest Service Tree Inventory is on the website. 
2. The Paonia Fire Protection Plan is on the website. 
3. The Agreement between Hotchkiss and Paonia is included informational purposes. 
4. The previous Town Attorney report is included for informational purposes and community review. 

 
Updates: 

1. The Town has until July 13th to take formal action if the Board chooses to participate in the November 
coordinated election.  The Board did not anticipate participation, so no funds were allocated for an 
election in the 2021 budget. 

2. The Tree Board ordinance 2020-05 is included for community and Board awareness regarding a 
Scribner error correction made. – to be re-signed by Mayor Bachran following this meeting. 

3. SGM – actively working on several projects for the Town.  Will be scheduled to present to the Board 
at an upcoming meeting. 

4. JDS Hydro – infrastructure analysis – delayed. Travis is working to provide the last updates requested 
this week. The new timeline for receipt of first draft is April 15th. 

5. Dark Skies Ordinance scheduled for the next Board meeting. 
6. Continue to clear outstanding reporting deficiencies with CDPHE.   
7. Travis is scheduled for all testing for updated license requirements. 
8. Attended the Tree Board meeting and requested their participation in formalizing updated policies 

regarding right-of-way greenspaces (planting, removal, up-keep). 
9. Master Plan & Building Code Update –the joint council/commission meeting was held Thursday, 

February 18th at 4pm. Following GAPS review of proposed Board of Appeals ordinance (out this 
week) and adoption by the Board, the Building Code update will go to the Trustees for review.  

10. The School District continues to work on the plan for transportation and modifications necessary for 
the consolidation of the high school.  The k-8 school, to be located at the Paonia Junior-Senior High 
School buildings will remain the Paonia K-8 Eagles. 

11. I have had a preliminary discussion with the Historical Society regarding encapsulating the P.H.S. 
history. They are reaching out to the school district for input. More to come if this project moves 
forward. 

12. The Planning Commission hearing review for the Riverbank Subdivision is Thursday at 5PM. 
13. Included after this report is community member request to include information in response to KVNF 

report given by Mayor Bachran. 
GRANTS – Updates included in the Finance Director’s report. 

 
Thank you. 

7



8



Ordinance 2020-05 - Page 1 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020 – 05  

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF 

PAONIA, COLORADO, AMENDING CHAPTER 2 ARTICLE 7, SECTION 

10 TO THE TOWN OF PAONIA MUNICIPAL CODE 

 

RECITALS: 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the “Town”), in the County of Delta and State of Colorado, is 

a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-15-702 the Town has the power to regulate the planting of 

ornamental and shade trees and the use of the same on public property; and  

 

WHEREAS, under Chapter 2, Article 7 the Town has established a Tree Board for the regulation 

and protection of trees on municipal property; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees determines that it is in the best interest of the community and 

the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town to amend the Town Code regarding 

the operation of the Town Tree Board.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS:  

 

Section 1.  Legislative Findings.   

 

The recitals to this Ordinance are adopted as findings of the Board of Trustees in support of the 

enactment of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 2.  Amendment of Town Code.  

 

(A) Chapter 2, Article 7 shall be repealed and replaced with the following: 

 

 Sec. 2-7-10.  It is the purpose of the Town to promote and protect the public health, safety, 

and general welfare by providing for the regulation of planting, maintenance and removal of 

trees within the limits of the Town. There is hereby created a Tree Board which shall be advisory 

in character and will represent the Paonia community in providing guidance and input to the 

Town Trustees and staff on trees. 

 

Sec. 2-7-20. - Membership; terms.  The Tree Board shall consist of a minimum of two (2) 

and a maximum of six (6) volunteer community members, who need not reside within the limits 

of the Town and one (1) member of the Board of Trustees. Members shall serve without 

compensation. There will be a chair and secretary of the Tree Board, as chosen by majority vote 

of its members. All Tree Board members shall be appointed by the Board of Trustees. The terms 

of office for the Tree Board shall be two (2) years renewable by the Board of Trustees; and the 

member of the Board of Trustees consistent with his/her term of office. 

9



Ordinance 2020-05 - Page 2 of 3 

 

 

Sec. 2-7-30. – Duties.   

  (a)  It shall be the responsibility of the Tree Board to advise the Board of Trustees 

about the selection, planting and care of trees in the town of Paonia referring when applicable to 

the most recent guidelines document or master plan. 

  (b) The Tree Board shall support and promote healthy horticultural practices for 

our climate through public education by celebrating Arbor Day every year, by maintaining a 

website and through other community events. 

  (c) The Tree Board shall prepare, in a timely fashion, the Tree City USA 

application and information required to maintain the Town of Paonia's status as a Tree City USA 

community, as approved by the National Arbor Day Foundation, 

  (d) The Tree Board, when requested by the Town Administrator, shall consider, 

investigate, make findings, report and recommend upon any special matter of question coming 

within the scope of its work and expertise. 

 

Section 3.  Severability.   

 

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions 

of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and, to 

this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 

Section 4.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.  

 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

 

Section 5.  Ordinance Effect. 
 

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed, provided, however, that the repeal of any 

ordinance or parts of ordinances of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance 

or ordinances hereto before repealed or superseded and further provided that this repeal shall not 

affect or prevent the prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in 

violation of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance.  

 

 

 

 

 

THIS SPACE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

 

 

 

 

10



Ordinance 2020-05 - Page 3 of 3 

Section 6.  Effective Date. 

 

This Ordinance shall take effect thirty days after publication.     

 

INTRODUCED, READ AND REFERRED for second read before the Board of Trustees of 

the Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the 12th day of May 2020. 

 

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Colorado, this 26th day of May 2020. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 

      By: ________________________________ 

MARY BACHRAN, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________________ 

J. CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11



12



13



14



15



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                                         Bo James Nerlin   
Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

         

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Board of Trustees, Town of Paonia 
From:  Bo James Nerlin, Esq.  
Re:  Town Attorney Report 
Date:  3/8/2021 
CC: Ms. Corinne Ferguson  
 
 
   This memo is an outline of the recent projects that I have been working on as the Town 
Attorney. This memo is to serve as an outline and not a comprehensive list.  

 
 

Marijuana Ordinance 
  In recognition of the fact that there were numerous public comments at the February 23, 
2021 Board Meeting, Ms. Ferguson and I are recommending a work session as a follow up.    
 
 North Fork Valley Airport  
 The County Attorney and County Administrator have reached out to discuss the MOU 
that is in place between the Town of Paonia and Delta County.  Ms. Ferguson and I have a 
meeting scheduled with the County on March 15th. We will report to the Board following this 
meeting.  
 
 Verizon Wireless 
 Ms. Ferguson and I were approached by a representative of Verizon Wireless about the 
possibility of a cell phone tower being installed adjacent to the existing SBA Tower.  We are 
waiting for information from Verizon, and we will then report to the Board.   
 
 DMEA Franchise Agreement  
 I have reached out to DMEA representatives to initiate discussions regarding a renewal of 
the existing franchise agreement. 
 

Property Disposition 
I have provided Ms. Ferguson with a draft policy outlining how the Town may wish to 

approach the sale and/or disposition of municipal property.  
 
Meetings 

 With the County Covid 19 cases decreasing and the County being set at the Blue Level, 
the Mayor and Trustees may wish to consider resuming in person meetings. 
  
  
  

16



From: sue watson 
To: Corinne Ferguson 
Subject: Letter to be included in packet for Tues March 23, 2020 
Date: Thursday, March 18, 2021 9:46:21 AM 
 

Hi Corinne Can you please put this in the packet as public comment? Is the format okay? 

Thanks, Suzanne 

 

Dear Town of Paonia Board of Trustees, 

I would like to refute mis-information that was presented by the Town of Paonia on March 8, 2021 during a 

KVNF interview. 

Who Owns the Tree Strip? 

Statement made: "that [the tree strip] belongs to the homeowner but the Town has an easement on that...”. 

Correction: The Town is largely platted with town owned rights of way and the boundary lines of private 

properties abut the right of ways. You can verify this with the County Offices or a local surveyor. 

Street Tree. 

From the “definitions” in the Paonia Tree Ordinance available thru MuniCode: 

Sec. 7-5-10. - Definitions. Streets tree(s) means trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation on 

land lying between property lines on either side of all streets, avenues or pubic rights-of-way within the 

Town. 

Noxious Weeds 

Statement: “The Forest Service considers them [Siberian Elm] a noxious weed” 

In fact, the Colorado Department of Agriculture considers the Siberian Elm a "watch list species”. 

https://ag.colorado.gov/conservation/noxious-weeds/species-id#a 

Ironically, the Colorado State Forest Service has included Siberian Elms in its seedling tree program! 

https://csfs.colostate.edu/seedling-tree-nursery/seedling-nursery-inventory/ 

Tree breakage. 

Species selection. 

Fast growing trees are more unsuited to the tree strip because their wood is weaker and more brittle. Crotch 

angles can also influence tree strength. Some tree varieties are more prone to weak branching but this can be 

mitigated thru tree selection, awareness and proper pruning. 

Proper Pruning. 

Bad pruning practices in Paonia have affected the health of our trees. In the past, trees were often 

“topped". When trees are topped, the tree rapidly sends up suckers to compensate for the trauma. Sucker 

growth is fast and weak. Many old trees show mature evidence of this sort of pruning as the weak suckers 

are now major branches. Tree breakage is not specific to Siberian Elms. 

Pruning mature street trees is expensive and is the sole responsibility of the adjacent property owner. 

Pruning is often neglected because of the expense. 

Thirsty Trees 
The statement that Siberian Elms are the species most targeted for removal because they are "thirsty and go 

looking for water pipes underground” is unfair. Damaged pipes are an issue in Paonia but the trees are not 

solely responsible. Paonia’s infrastructure is old and corroded/leaky pipes in the system are slowly being 

repaired. The best solution for roots in the system is not tree removal but line replacement with modern 

materials. 

The fast growing, water loving tree varieties tend to have faster growing roots. Willows and Poplars may, 

in fact, be more problematic than Siberian Elms in regards to aggressively finding water sources for 

survival. 

Sidewalk Damage 

Siberian elms are not the only trees in Paonia that have caused sidewalk damage. Maples, Honeylocust, 

Blue Spruce and Poplars are among the other trees than can be implicated. Large trees in general have 

massive root systems that may heave the sidewalks yet many other communities have realized that the 

aesthetic, economic and ecological value of a mature tree outweighs the cost of mitigating sidewalk issues. 
There are many creative solutions for the sidewalks. Ultimately, Paonia will need to assess its love/hate 

relationship with the old growth trees. 

17



In Conclusion. 

The suitability of tree varieties changes with the test of time. For example, once touted as a drought tolerant 

tree suited to alkaline soils, the Ash is now being devastated by the Emerald Ash Borer and is no longer a 

recommended tree. 

Siberian Elms were once considered a tough, fast growing solution for the harsh, hot environment of a 

young Paonia. Just because time has revealed certain faults is not reason enough remove this tree from our 

streets. 

Recognizing the value of our mature urban forest and the micro climate it creates is a wise choice at this 

pointing time. An urban forest can take 70 years to develop. The CSFS Paonia Tree survey documents the 

value, diversity and condition of our canopy and is a useful planning tool. There are many sites within the 

tree strips that have been barren for years and are well deserving of a new planting. Lets appreciate and 

maintain what we have yet plant for the future. 

Thank you for your attention, Suzanne Watson 

C.R.S. 31-15-702 (1) The governing body of each municipality has the power: 

(a) 

(I) To lay out, establish, open, alter, widen, extend, grade, pave, or otherwise improve streets, parks, 

and public grounds and vacate the same and to direct and regulate the planting of ornamental and 

shade trees in such streets, parks, and public grounds; to plant trees upon the same; to regulate the 

use of the same; to prevent and remove encroachments or obstructions upon the same; to provide for 

the lighting of the same; and to provide for the cleansing of the same; 

18



Public Works Report – 3/23/2021 

 

1. Status with JDS Hydro – Preliminary draft receipt delayed due to focus on 

completion of time sensitive CDPHE reporting.  

2. Continuing to work on requirements for CDPHE.  

3. Installed new trash receptacles on Grand Avenue. 

4. RFP for 2021 street improvement projects out for bid. 

5. Town Stewart Ditch park lateral piping this week. 

6. Advertising and accepting applications to fill general laborer open position. 

7. Water leak on 8inch main line off O Road. This is not the new line. Repaired 

8. Water leak on Harding Road. Repaired 

9. Researching aerators for sewer plant. 

10. Working with SGM on lead & copper exceedance requirements. 

11. Ammonia levels at WWTP continue to decline.   

12. Working with SGM on long-term treatment solution and CIP. 

13. Prepping for installation of the pressure drop vault at the 2MG plant. 

14. Began preliminary designs for installation of altitude valve at 1MG plant. 

15. Purchased pintle-hitch trailer for moving equipment.  This was included in 

capital purchase budget and is within the purchase policy guidelines. 

16. Boring for irrigation water connection to Lee’s Park scheduled. 

Upcoming: 

Beginning parks maintenance to include – sprinkler system repairs and upgrades, 

aerating, seeding, tree planting. 

Street cleanup. 

Scheduling spring clean. 

 

 

 

 

19



rplwlitr.x1

Paonia Police Department
Law Incident Table, by Date and Time

Date Occurred:   03/01/21
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
11:19:39 SUICIDE/ATTEMPT OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
20:21:47 Juvenile Prob RIO GRANDE AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/02/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:14:55 Noise Complaint PPD PPD
14:35:46 VIN INSPECTION PPD DIST3
15:27:36 Information

Address
POPLAR AVE, Paonia, CO 
PEONY LN, Paonia, CO 
ONARGA AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   03/03/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
13:15:59 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
17:53:51 SUSPICIOUS

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
4TH ST, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/04/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
11:45:56 ASSAULT PPD PPD
16:19:40 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
16:26:57 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
17:52:06 911/hangup

Address
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO 
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   03/05/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
09:44:01 911/hangup PPD PPD
14:11:59 Disturbance PPD PPD
18:02:42 Traffic Stop

Address
VISTA DR, Paonia, CO
OAK AVE, Paonia, CO
SAMUEL WADE RD, Paonia, CO PPD PPD VW

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   03/07/21

20



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 2 of 3

rplwlitr.x1

Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:43:51 CRIM MISCHIEF PPD HOT
16:59:27 Certified Vin PPD PPD
19:41:57 AGENCY ASSIST

Address
ORCHARD ST, Hotchkiss, CO 
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO
S RIVER LN, Hotchkiss, CO PPD HOT

Total Incidents for this Date: 3

Date Occurred:   03/09/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
15:26:15 VIN INSPECTION

Address
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   03/10/21
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
11:50:21 FRAUD PPD PPD
13:54:41 CIVIL PROBLEM PPD PPD UNF
14:12:53 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
14:17:07 VIN INSPECTION PPD PPD
16:07:01 TrafficAccident

DORRIS AVE, Paonia, CO
COLORADO AVE, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO 
GRAND AVE; PPD, Paonia, CO 
E BRIDGE ST, Hotchkiss, CO PPD HOT

16:18:41 SHOPLIFTING PPD CIT
18:00:33 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD
18:29:46 ALARM

2ND Street, Paonia, CO  PPD  
GRANDAVE,Paonia,CO PPD 
2ND ST, Paonia,CO      PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 8

Date Occurred:   03/11/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
12:59:23 THEFT PPD PPD UTL
15:48:46 VIN INSPECTION

Address
2ND ST, Paonia, CO
GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD

Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Date Occurred:   03/12/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
20:38:52 SUSPICIOUS

Address
LAMBORN AVE, Paonia, CO PPD PPD UNF

Total Incidents for this Date: 1

Date Occurred:   03/13/21
Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
11:33:45 Traffic Stop PPD PPD CIT
14:56:24 Traffic Stop

5TH St., Paonia, CO
SAMUEL WADE RD, Paonia, CO PPD DIST3 CIT

15:02:50 CITIZEN ASSIST PPD
16:21:42 SHOPLIFTING

GRAND AVE, Paonia, CO                  
2ND STREET, Paonia, CO  PPD PPD CIT

    PPD

21

Joann
Cross-Out



Law Incident Table, by Date and Time Page 3 of 3

Report Includes:
All dates between `00:00:01 03/01/21` and `00:00:01 03/15/21`, All agencies matching `PPD`, All disposition's, All natures,
All location codes, All cities

rplwlitr.x1

Time Nature Address Agency Loctn Dsp
Total Incidents for this Date: 4

Date Occurred:   03/14/21
Time Nature Agency Loctn Dsp
10:20:20 Traffic Stop

Address
E BRIDGE St, Hotchkiss, CO PPD VW

13:44:06 ANIMAL CONTROL N 1ST St, Hotchkiss, CO PPD UTL
Total Incidents for this Date: 2

Total reported: 35

VW - 2, UNF - 2, CIT - 4, UTL - 2 

22



 

 

 P.O. Box 3310, 130 N. Park Avenue       Montrose, Colorado 81402               T: 970-249-7000               F: 970-249-8440 

 

DEVOR & PLUMHOFF, LLC                                                                         Bo James Nerlin   
Attorneys and Counselors at Law                        bo@coloradowestlaw.com 

         

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Board of Trustees, Town of Paonia 
From:  Bo James Nerlin, Esq.  
Re:  Town Attorney Report 
Date:  3/19/2021 
CC: Ms. Corinne Ferguson  
 
 
   This memo is an outline of the recent projects that I have been working on as the Town 
Attorney. This memo is to serve as an outline and not a comprehensive list.  

 
 Marijuana Regulation 
 After attending the Board’s work session on March 16, 2021, a revised ordinance 
adopting the Town’s Marijuana Regulation was prepared to incorporate the comments provided.  
This revised ordinance is included in the Board Packet.  As the Board moves forward with 
adopting marijuana regulation, it will also need to approve a license application form and an 
ordinance supplementing Chapter 4 of the municipal code regarding the imposition of the 
Occupational Tax.   
   

Board of Adjustment/Board of Appeals 
Ms. Ferguson has reviewed an initial draft of the proposed ordinance updating the Town 

Code regarding the Board of Adjustment/ Board of Appeals.  This ordinance will now go to the 
GAPS committee for its review.   

 
Outdoor Lighting Regulations 
Staff and our office have been provided with a draft update to the Town’s Outdoor 

Lighting Regulations from Dark Skies Paonia.  We anticipate having this ordinance for Board 
review in April.   

 
Declaration of a Local Disaster  

 The Town’s current local disaster declaration is set to expire March 31, 2021.  In the 
Board Packet, there is a proposed resolution extending the Town’s local disaster declaration 
through the end of 2021.  With a new round of federal funding being approved, Staff 
recommends that the local disaster declaration remain in place as such a declaration may be tied 
to the receipt of federal funding as it was under the CARES Act.   
 
 North Fork Valley Airport 
 Ms. Ferguson and I met with Delta County Attorney John Baier and Delta County 
Administrator Robbie LeValley to discuss the current Memorandum of Understanding between 
the Town and Delta County regarding the North Fork Valley Airport.  We anticipate discussing 
the airport in greater detail with the Board in the coming weeks.  

23



 
  

24



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes: 

March 9, 2021 

Work Session: 

March 16, 2021 

Special Event Liquor License: 

Friends of the Paradise Theatre – Poulos Park Concert Series 

Standard Liquor License Renewal: 

Thomas Waldo’s 

The Flying Fork 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

47



 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Virtual Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

March 09, 2021 

  

 

Record of Proceedings: 

 

Work Session 5:30PM 

 

PRESENT 

William Bear 

Karen Budinger 

Mary Bachran 

Michelle Pattison 

Mick Johnson 

Dave Knutson 

Tamie Meck 

 

Western Slope Consulting Parks Recreation and Trails Master Plan Update 

A presentation for the process of the Parks Recreation and Trails master plan, known as Paonia 

in Motion, was provided by Western Slope Consulting partners Matt and Davis Farrar. 

 

Work Session adjourned at 6:15PM. 

 

The Regular Meeting held via Zoom on Tuesday, March 9, 2021, was called to order at 6:30PM 

by Mayor Mary Bachran, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. Formal Video Record at: 

https://youtu.be/uphMrEXU4kM 

 

Roll Call 

PRESENT 

William Bear 

Karen Budinger 

Mary Bachran 

Michelle Pattison 

Mick Johnson 

Dave Knutson 

Tamie Meck 

 

Approval of Agenda 
Motion made and seconded for the approval of the agenda as presented. 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

48

https://youtu.be/uphMrEXU4kM


 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

 

Announcements  
Information Provided regarding the Friday COVID-19 Vaccine Event in Hotchkiss. 

 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests  
None. 

 

Staff Reports 
Department Head written reports included in the packet. 

Administrator’s Report: 

 Options for continued remote participation 

 School district consolidation 

o Effect on small communities when a school closes 

 One Delta County  

 November coordinated election schedule 

 Joint building official benefits to communities 

 Community request for staff to wear masks correctly when meeting in-person 

 

Public Works Report: 

 Starting RFP process for street projects – which streets included 

 Washout at Twin Lakes remediated 

 Water leak on O Road – on old line 

 Data logging at WWTP – influent, effluent, temperatures, and scale monitoring 

 Open public works position 

 When exit interviews are conducted 

 Any potential impact at sewer plant by neighboring property work 

 

Police Report: 

 Assisting Hotchkiss Marshals office with coverage while short-staffed 

 The agreement will be included in the next packet for Board information 

 Received all parts for new vehicle wiring 

 

Attorney Report: 

 Apologies for late adds to the packet 

 Encouraged review of other options with meeting schedule 

 Meeting with Delta County regarding the North Fork Airport 

 Installation of cell tower on P Hill – waiting for information 

 Initiating process for DMEA franchise agreement update 

 

 

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

49



 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

Finance Report: 

Open for questions. None presented. 

 

Disbursements 
Treasurers Report: 

Treasurer King noted review of payroll and disbursements.  Recommendation for approval 

provided. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Budinger, seconded by Knutson to approve disbursements as 

presented.  

 

 

Pickin in the Park – Rob Miller  
Rob Miller provided an optimistic update for moving forward with Pickin in the Park for August. 

He is in communication the health department to keep up to date on all changes and requirements 

for outdoor events. 

 

Western Slope Conservation Center – Letter of Support for wildfire mitigation and 

watershed restoration, and improvement of wildlife corridors across the state 
Ben Katz with WSCC presented the draft letter of support requesting the Board approve the 

Town signing on to support State Conservation Investment to the Board.   

 

Mayor Bachran lost connection. Mayor Pro-Tem Bear assumed the chair seat running the 

meeting in her stead.  

 

Motion made and seconded to approve and instruct the Town to sign on to the letter of support. 

Mayor Bachran re-entered the virtual meeting and resumed chair. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Johnson, Seconded by Trustee Meck. 

 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

50



 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

 

Marijuana Ordinance Regulations - Work Session Schedule 

Scheduled the work session for Tuesday March 16, 2021 at 5pm. 

 

Resolution 2021-03 Appropriation of Additional Funds Within the 2020 Budget (General 

Fund) 

Finance Director Cindy Jones provided an overview of the ratifying resolutions for the approved 

changes to the 2020 budget - General Fund. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Budinger to adopt Resolution 2021-03. 

 

Resolution 2021-04 Appropriation of Additional Funds Within the 2020 Budget (Capital 

Fund) 

Finance Director Cindy Jones provided an overview of the ratifying resolutions for the approved 

changes to the 2020 budget - Capital Improvement Fund. 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Budinger to adopt Resolution 2021-04. 

 

Ordinance 2021-TBD Accessory Dwelling Unit Regulation - Review and Referral to 

Planning Commission 

An overview of the ordinance was provided prior to referral to the planning commission for 

review and Board recommendation. 

 

Other items discussed by the Board were: 

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

51



 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

 Water tap moratorium 

 Square footage of accessory units 

 Options recommended by the Governmental Affairs committee 

 

Other community comments were:  

 Sections of applicable building code 

 Water tap moratorium language 

 Process for review at the commission meeting and the Board meeting level 

 

Decommissioned ½ Million Water Storage Tank 

Administrator Ferguson provided an update regarding remediation measures to remove tin and 

other unsafe attachments as well as requested the Board take no action while alternative funding 

is investigated. 

 

Advisory Water Committee – Establishing Priorities 

As Advisory Water Committee Board representative and Chair Trustee Meck asked the Board 

for comments and/or questions regarding the provided priority list as determined by the majority 

of the advisory water committee members. 

 

Thomas Markle, member of the advisory water committee, provided an overview of the process 

to create the list of priorities. 

 

Discussion ensued regarding: 

 How listed items relate to each other 

 Grant funding options 

 

GAPS Follow-Up - Food Truck Regulations – Discussion/Direction 

Trustee Pattison provided an overview of the recommendations provided. Topics for Board 

discussion ensued regarding: 

 

 Fees 

 Property taxes 

 Public discussion with stakeholders 

 General regulations vs. special events regulations 

 COVID-19 impact on brick-and-mortar businesses 

 Food Truck impacts on other businesses 

 

Community comments provided were: 

 

 Food trucks on private property vs. use of Town property specific to fees 

 limiting the number of food trucks on Town property 

 

Consent Agenda 
Corrections noted. 

Community requests acknowledgment in minutes when suggestions are provided.    

52



 

  

MARCH 09, 2021 VIRTUAL MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

 

Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Budinger to approve consent agenda as 

amended. 

 

Mayor’s Report 
Written report provided in the packet. 

Some concern was noted with speed limits and diverted traffic due to upcoming CDOT Little 

Blue Canyon project. 

 

Committee Reports 
 

Finance and Personnel - noted meeting topics for tomorrow at 9:30am 

Governmental Affairs and Public Safety – Correction – Meeting was help March 8th. Finalized 

Short Term Rental survey for April 1st.  

Public Works Utilities Facilities - met today, most items discussed during the public 

meeting.  The school water meter is under the asphalt and is delayed until school is out or asphalt 

is available. Manual meters will begin installation later in spring. 

Tree Board - Meeting Monday at 5:00PM. Several items including Arbor Day events for 2021 

will be on the agenda. 

 

Adjournment 
Mayor Bachran adjourned the meeting at 8:43pm. 

 

 

 

_______________________________________  ______________________________ 

J. Corinne Ferguson, Town Administrator/Clerk  Mary Bachran, Mayor  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

53



 

 

  

MARCH 16, 2021 MARIJUANA ORDINANCE - WORK SESSION 

MINUTES 
1 

 

 

Minutes 

Town Board Work Session 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

March 16, 2021 

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

The Work Session of the Town Board of Trustees held Tuesday, March 16, 2021, was called to 

order at 5:00 PM by Mayor Mary Bachran, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Trustee’s present were as follows: 

Mayor Mary Bachran 

Bill Bear 

Dave Knutson 

Karen Budinger 

Tamie Meck 

Mick Johnson 
 

Trustees absent were as follows: 

Michelle Pattison 
 

Town Staff present were as follows: 

Administrator/Town Clerk Corinne Ferguson 

Deputy Clerk Amanda Mojarro 
 

A quorum was present, and Mayor Bachran proceeded with the meeting. 
 

Unfinished Business 
 

           Board of Trustees Work Session Regarding Retail & Medical Marijuana Store Draft Ordinance 

2021-TBD: 

  

            Mayor Mary Bachran proceeded the work session by reviewing and discussing the Town 

Attorney’s memorandum and Marijuana Ordinance. 
 

 Discussion Topics: 

● Number of Locations in the C-1 & C-2 districts – Discussion and direction by the Board 

was to have no more than (6) six locations total.  

○ Mayor Bachran reiterated that the cap of locations is (6) six and can have either 

retail and/or medical marijuana license.  

● Signage – Discussion ensued by the Board and the direction was to have no off-premises 

signage and model after the liquor stores regulations. 

● Hours of operation – Discussion ensued by the Board and direction was to set the hours 

from 8:00 A.M to 12:00 P.M 

● Delivery – Discussion ensued by the Board was to model and include the Colorado State 

Statue Marijuana delivery and clarify the language regarding no delivery out of town 

limits.  

● Bonds – Discussion ensued by the Board regarding cash bonds the Finance Committee 

members were not in favor of the Town holding the cash bond. Board direction was to 

write out the $10,000 cash bond. 

● Application process – Discussion and direction by the Board was to cross-reference the 

Colorado State Statue reference of good character.  

● Transfer and/or sale of license – Discussion and direction by the Board were to reference 

the Town’s formula businesses and hold the Marijuana license for (1) one year before it 

could be transferable.  

● Occupational tax – Discussion by the Board regarding that the occupational tax charge is 

not referenced in the ordinance. The Town Attorney Nerlin will be cross-referencing and 

including the occupational tax under Article 4 in the ordinance. 

● The ordinance language throughout the document needs to consistently read and/or. 

● Discussion and direction by the Board to strike out the “Alcohol or drug facility “under 

section 6-4-20 defined terms letter B. 

 

 

 

54



 

 

  

MARCH 16, 2021 MARIJUANA ORDINANCE - WORK SESSION 

MINUTES 
2 

 

 

 

 

Adjournment 
 

Mayor Bachran adjourned the meeting at 5:58 pm. 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

 

55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



 

March 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Retail Marijuana Ordinance 2021-01 - First Read 

Summary:  Following multiple reviews, Board meetings, and community work-session, 

included for first read is the final draft retail marijuana ordinance. 

 

 

Notes: 

 

Thank you for all who have participated and aided throughout the process.  Following first 

read and referral for second read, staff will finalize and prepare the fee resolution and 

application for Board review and approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

66



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 1 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO AMENDING THE 

PAONIA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER SIX ARTICLE 4 CONCERNING THE 

REGULATION AND LICENSING OF MEDICAL AND RETAIL MARIJUANA STORES 

AND REPEALING ARTICLE 3 CONCERNING PROHIBITING MEDICAL 

MARIJUANA STORES 

 

WHEREAS, Section 14 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, also commonly 

known as Amendment 20 of 2000, authorizes the medical use of marijuana.   

 

WHEREAS, Section 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, also commonly 

known as Amendment 64 of 2012, authorizes a system of state licensing for businesses engaging 

in the cultivation, testing, manufacturing and retail sale of marijuana, collectively referred to as 

“marijuana stores” by the Constitution.   

 

WHEREAS, Subsection 16(5)(f) of Article XVIII allows localities within their 

respective jurisdictions:  to prohibit state licensing of marijuana establishments; to regulate the 

time, place and manner in which marijuana stores may operate; and to limit the total number of 

marijuana stores.  The authority of localities to prohibit or regulate marijuana stores within their 

respective jurisdictions, including the authority to engage in local licensing of marijuana stores, 

is also reflected in various provisions of the Colorado Retail Code, Article 43.4 of Title 12, 

C.R.S.; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the Special Election held on November 3, 2020 the voters of Paonia have 

determined that the Town of Paonia should allow retail and/or medical marijuana stores within 

the Town, subject to zoning restrictions set forth in the Municipal Code and the licensing and 

other limitations, restrictions and regulations provided for in this ordinance. 

 

  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF 

THE TOWN OF PAONIA, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Chapter 6 of the Paonia Municipal Code is hereby amended to add a new Article 4, to 

read as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 4 

PAONIA MARIJUANA CODE 

Sections: 

 6-4-10  Purpose and legislative intent 

 6-4-20  Defined terms 

 6-4-30  Effective date; applicability 

 6-4-40  Local licensing authority 

 6-4-50  Relationship to Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; other laws 

 6-4-60  Unlawful acts 

 6-4-70  Classes of licensing authorized 

67



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 2 

 

 6-4-80  Screening and response to state license applications 

 6-4-90  Licensing requirements—provisions applicable to all licenses 

 6-4-100 Location restrictions and license restrictions  

 6-4-110 Signs and advertising 

6-4-120 Denial for good cause 

 6-4-130 Transfer of ownership 

 6-4-140 Change of location; modification of premises 

 6-4-150 Term of licenses; renewals 

 6-4-160 Suspension or revocation of license 

 6-4-170 Operating fees 

 6-4-180 Public nuisance 

 6-4-190 Occupational Tax on the sale of Marijuana  

 6-4-200 Penalty 

 

 

6-4-10   Purpose and legislative intent.  The purpose of this Chapter 6, Article 4 is to 

exercise the authority of the Town of Paonia to allow state-licensed retail and/or medical 

marijuana stores to exist in Paonia in accordance with the applicable state laws and regulations 

as well as the additional local licensing requirements and other restrictions set forth herein.  This 

Chapter is adopted pursuant to the aforesaid constitutional and statutory authority, as well as the 

Town’s plenary authority as a statutory town to adopt and enforce ordinances under its police 

power in order to preserve the public health, safety and general welfare and its authority to 

regulate businesses. 

 

6-4-20  Defined terms.   

 

The definitions set forth in Subsection 16 (2) of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

Constitution as well as the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, § 12-43.4-103, C.R.S., as amended, 

shall apply equally to this Chapter 6.  In addition, the following terms shall have the meanings 

respectively assigned to them: 

 

A.  “Applicant” is an agent under written authority, who applies on behalf of a 

domestic entity as defined under C.R.S. § 7-90-102(13) to operate a retail and/or medical 

marijuana store, so long as the written authority is signed by all controlling owners with more 

than twenty-five percent ownership interest in the domestic entity or its sub entities or an 

individual, if applying prior to forming a domestic entity. 

 

B. "Childcare center" means a facility maintained for the care of children under the 

age of sixteen (16), including, but not limited to, day camps, nursery schools, day care, 

preschools and playschools.  Such facility shall be licensed by the Colorado Department of 

Human Services. 

 

C. "Colorado Retail Marijuana Code" means Article 43.4 of Title 12 of the Colorado 

Revised Statutes, as amended, including all Rules promulgated pursuant to the Colorado Retail 

Marijuana Code as set forth in the Colorado Code of Regulations Department of Revenue 

Marijuana Enforcement Division 1 CCR 212.2. 

68



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 3 

 

   

D. "Retail marijuana establishment" means a retail marijuana cultivation facility, a 

retail marijuana products manufacturing facility, or a retail marijuana testing facility. 

 

E. "Retail Marijuana Store" is an entity licensed to purchase marijuana from 

marijuana cultivation facilities and marijuana and marijuana products from marijuana product 

manufacturing facilities and to sell marijuana and marijuana products to consumers, as 

set forth in Section 16 of XVIII of the Colorado Constitution.  

 

F.  "School" means a public or private elementary, middle, junior high, or high 

school.  (Note: "preschools" are included in the Town's definition of "childcare center"). 

 

G. “Land Development Regulations (LDR)” means the land development regulations 

as adopted and updated periodically by the Town of Paonia. 

 

  H. “Marijuana License Cap” is the maximum licenses issued by the Town at any one 

time being no more than one (1) retail and/or medical marijuana store per commercial block, and 

no more than twelve 12 total licenses.    

 

  I. “Medical Marijuana Store” is a person licensed to operate a business under C.R.S. 

§ 44-10-104, as amended, that sells medical marijuana to registered patients or primary 

caregivers as defined in Section 14 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution, but 

is not a primary caregiver. 

 

6-4-30  Effective date; applicability. 

   

This Article 4 shall be effective thirty (30) days after final adoption and publication in the 

newspaper of public record; and shall govern all applications submitted to the state licensing 

authority for licensing of any retail and/or medical marijuana store in the Town under the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code on and after that date. 

 

6-4-40  Local licensing authority. 

 

A. The Board of Trustees is hereby designated to act as the local licensing authority 

for the Town regarding retail and/or medical marijuana stores.  Under any and all circumstances 

in which state law requires communication to the Town by the state licensing authority or any 

other state agency in regard to the licensing of retail and/or medical marijuana stores by the state, 

or in which state law requires any review or approval by the Town of any action taken by the 

state licensing authority, the exclusive authority for receiving such communications and granting 

such approvals shall be exercised by the Board. 

 

B. Under no circumstances shall the Board of Trustees receive or act upon any 

application for local licensing of a retail and/or medical marijuana store in circumstances where 

the state has failed to act in accordance with Section 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado 

Constitution, it being the intent of this Article that no retail and/or medical marijuana store may 

lawfully exist in the Town of Paonia absent the issuance of a state license and full regulatory 

69



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 4 

 

oversight of the retail and/or medical marijuana store by the state, as well as the Town.  

Accordingly, the Board shall not receive or act upon any application for licensing submitted 

independently and in lieu of state licensing if the state fails to act within ninety (90) days on any 

specific application for licensing of a retail and/or medical marijuana store in accordance with 

paragraph 16(5)(g)(III) of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution. 

  

C. Any decision made by the local licensing authority to grant or deny a license, to 

revoke or suspend a license, or to renew or not renew a license shall be a final decision and may 

be appealed to the district court pursuant to Rule 106(a)(4) of the Colorado Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

 

6-4-50  Relationship to Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; other laws.   

 

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, this Article 4 incorporates the 

requirements and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code.  In the event of 

any conflict between the provisions of this Article 4 and the provisions of the Colorado Retail 

Marijuana Code or any other applicable state or local law, the more restrictive provision shall 

control, except that the location requirements and restrictions set forth in Section 6-4-100 shall 

apply in all situations of conflict between such provisions and the provisions of state law or 

regulation regarding matters where the exercise of discretion by local jurisdictions is granted by 

the constitution or laws of the State of Colorado. 

 

6-4-60  Unlawful acts. 

 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any retail and/or medical marijuana 

store in the Town without a license duly issued therefor by the state licensing authority under the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and compliance with any and all applicable state laws. 

 

B. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any retail and/or medical marijuana 

store in the Town without a license duly issued therefor by the Board of Trustees under this 

Article 4 and compliance with any and all applicable Town laws. 

 

C. It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in any form of business or 

commerce involving the cultivation, processing, manufacturing, storage, sale, distribution or 

consumption of marijuana other than those forms of businesses and commerce that are expressly 

contemplated by Sections 14 and 16 of Article XVIII of the Colorado Constitution and/or the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code. 

 

D. It shall be unlawful for any licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store to sell, 

serve, distribute, or initiate the transport of retail and/or medical marijuana or retail and/or 

medical marijuana products at any time other than between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 12:00 a.m. 

daily. 

 

6-4-70   Classes of licensing authorized.   

 

70



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 5 

 

For the purpose of regulating the cultivation, manufacturing, testing, distribution, offering 

for sale, and sale of retail and/or medical marijuana, the Board of Trustees, at the Board’s 

discretion, upon application in the prescribed form made to the Board, may issue and grant to the 

applicant a local license from any of the following classes, and the Town hereby authorizes the 

issuance of the licenses of the following classes by the state licensing authority within the Town, 

subject to the provisions, limitations and restrictions set forth in this Article 4: 

 

A. Retail marijuana store.  

 

B. Medical marijuana store.  

 

(Note: A Retail Marijuana Store may be located on the same licensed premises as a Medical 

Marijuana Store and may be operated by the same licensee, subject to compliance with all state 

requirements and the requirements of this Town Marijuana Code, and the issuance of a state 

license allowing for such co-location.)  

 

6-4-80   Screening and response to state license applications. 

 

A. Upon receipt of notice from the state licensing authority of any application for a 

license under the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, the Town Clerk shall: 

 

  1. Determine, in consultation with the Town Administrator, or his/her 

designee, whether the location proposed for licensing complies with any and all applicable 

zoning and land use laws of the Town, and any and all restrictions on location of retail and/or 

medical marijuana stores set forth in this Article 4.  If the Town makes an initial determination 

that the proposed license would be in violation of any zoning law or other restriction on location 

set forth in the Town’s laws, the Town shall, no later than forty-five (45) days from the date the 

application was originally received by the state licensing authority, notify the state licensing 

authority and the applicant for state licensing in writing that the application is disapproved by the 

Town.  The failure of the Town to make such a determination upon the initial review of a state 

license application shall not preclude the Town from later determining that proposed license is in 

violation of Town’s zoning laws or any other restriction on location set forth in Town laws and 

disapprove the issuance of a state or Town license on this basis. 

 

  2. For any application that is not disapproved as provided in paragraph 1 of 

this Subsection A, the Town shall notify the state licensing authority and the applicant for state 

licensing in writing that the Town’s further consideration of the application is subject to a local 

licensing process, and that the Town’s ultimate decision to approve or disapprove the issuance of 

the state license for a retail and/or medical marijuana store proposed to be located in the Town of 

Paonia will be subject to the completion of the local licensing process, as set forth in this Article 

4, after which the Town will notify the state licensing authority in writing of whether or not the 

retail and/or medical marijuana store proposed in the application has or has not been approved by 

the Town. 

 

6-4-90   Licensing requirements—provisions applicable to all licenses. 

 

71



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 6 

 

A. Criteria for licensing.  The Board of Trustees shall consider and act upon all local 

license applications in accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in this Article 4.  

The Board may deny any application for a license that is not in full compliance with the 

Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, this Article 4, and any other applicable state or Town law or 

regulation.  The Board also shall deny any application that contains any false or incomplete 

information. 

   

B. Application forms and supplemental materials.  All applications for local 

licensing shall be made upon forms provided by the Town and shall include such supplemental 

materials as required by the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and rules adopted pursuant thereto, 

including by way of example: proof of possession of the licensed premises, disclosures related to 

ownership of the proposed business, fingerprints of the applicants, building plans, and security 

plans.  To the extent any of the foregoing supplemental materials have been included with the 

applicant’s state license application and forwarded to the Town by the state licensing authority, 

the Town Clerk may rely upon the information forwarded from the state without requiring re-

submittal of the same materials in conjunction with the local license application.  The Town 

may, at the Town’s discretion, require additional documentation associated with the application 

as may be necessary to enforce the requirements of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and this 

Article 4. 

   

C. Tax bond.  Before the Board of Trustees issues a Town license to an applicant for 

a retail and/or medical marijuana store license, the applicant shall procure and file with the Town 

evidence of good and sufficient bond in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) 

with corporate surety thereon duly licensed to do business with the State of Colorado, approved 

as to form by the Town’s Attorney, and conditioned that the applicant shall report and pay all 

Town sales and use taxes as provided by law.  A corporate surety shall not be required to make 

payments to the Town claiming under such bond until a final determination of failure to pay 

taxes due to the Town has been made by the Finance Officer or a court of competent jurisdiction.  

All bonds required pursuant to this subsection shall be renewed at such times as the bondholder's 

license is renewed.  The renewal may be accomplished through a continuation certificate issued 

by the surety.   

   

D. Area maps.  All applications for retail and/or medical marijuana store licensing 

submitted pursuant to this Article 4 shall include an area map drawn to scale indicating land uses 

of other properties within five hundred (500) feet of each boundary of the lot or parcel upon 

which the applicant proposes a licensed premise.  The map shall depict the proximity of the 

property to be used as the licensed premises to any school or childcare facility of the type 

referenced in Section 6-4-100. 

 

E. Notice of applications to departments and agencies.  Upon receipt of an 

application for any class of local marijuana store license, the Town Clerk shall give notice of the 

application to the Town Administrator, the Finance Officer, the Building Official, the Chief of 

the Paonia Police Department, the Chief of the Paonia Fire Protection District #2 and appropriate 

county or local health officials.  Any applicant for a license under this Article 4 shall obtain any 

and all necessary permits, licenses and other regulatory approvals from the other affected Town 

72



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 7 

 

departments and agencies prior to the issuance of a license under this Article 4.  The Town also 

will consider any recommendations made by the Paonia Fire Protection District #2. 

   

F. Background checks and determination of good character and state residency.  

Prior to the issuance of any local license, the Board of Trustees shall make a finding as to the 

good moral character of the applicant and compliance with state residency requirements in 

accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code, 

pursuant to C.R.S. 44-10-307.    In so doing, the Board may incorporate into its findings any 

findings as to good character and residency previously made by the state licensing authority and 

rely upon such findings in making its determination.  The Board shall not be required to perform 

a criminal background check if the state licensing authority has already performed a criminal 

background check on the applicant. 

 

H.   A license pursuant to this ordinance does not eliminate the need for the licensee to 

obtain other Town licenses and permits, including, but not limited to: 

 

1. Any land use approval, if applicable; 

 

2.  State sales tax license; or 

 

3.  Building, mechanical, plumbing, electrical or fire permit(s). 

 

6-4-100  Location restrictions and license restrictions  

 

A. Permitted locations for sales.  All retail and/or medical marijuana store licenses 

shall be issued for a specific fixed location which shall be designated the licensed premises.  

Except as provided in Subsection D, all sales, deliveries and other transfers of marijuana and 

marijuana products by a licensee shall be made at or from the licensed premises. 

   

B. Distance from schools.  No retail and/or medical marijuana store license shall be 

granted with respect to a proposed licensed premise that would be located within five hundred 

(500) feet of any school that existed at the time of the filing of a complete application for a retail 

and/or medical marijuana store license with the Town Clerk. 

  

C. Distance from certain childcare facilities.  No retail and/or medical marijuana 

store license shall be granted with respect to a proposed licensed premises that would be located 

within five hundred (500) feet of any licensed residential child care facility, as defined in Title 

26 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, that existed at the time of the filing of a complete 

application for a retail and/or medical marijuana store license with the Town. 

 

D. No mobile facilities and restrictions regarding deliveries. 

 

  1. No retail and/or medical marijuana store shall be located in a movable or 

mobile vehicle or structure. 

 

73



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 8 

 

  2. No retail and/or medical marijuana or marijuana product shall be delivered 

in the Town unless under the following restrictions;  

 

      (i)   such delivery is by a retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed 

by the state to another retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed by the state and the Town, 

and such delivery is specifically permitted by the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code; or  

  

   (ii) such delivery is by a retail and/or medical marijuana store licensed 

by the Town and also license by the state with a retail marijuana transporter license pursuant to 

C.R.S. 44-10-605 or a medical marijuana transporter license pursuant to C.R.S. 44-10-505.   

 

  3. All sales and distribution of marijuana and marijuana products by a 

licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store shall occur only upon the licensed premises, unless 

delivered by a licensed retail and/or medical marijuana transporter.  However, in no event shall 

any sale or distribution of a Town licensed retail and/or medical marijuana store shall occur 

outside the limits of the Town.   

  

E. Measurement of distance.  Any distance specified in Subsection B or C of this 

section shall be computed by direct measurement from the nearest property line of the lot or 

parcel upon which a school or child care facility referenced in Subsection B or C is situated to 

the nearest property line of the land used or proposed for use as a licensed retail and/or medical 

marijuana store, using a route of direct pedestrian access, measured as a person would walk 

safely and properly, without trespassing, with right angles at crossings and with the observance 

of traffic regulations and lights. 

 

F. Places where retail and/or medical marijuana stores are prohibited.  No licensed 

retail and/or medical marijuana store shall be operated within the boundaries of any residential 

zone district of the Town as those boundaries exist at the time any complete application for any 

class of retail and/or medical marijuana store license is filed with the Town Clerk.  Retail and/or 

medical marijuana stores shall only be operated within the boundaries of a C-1 or C-2 

commercial zone district of the as those boundaries exist at the time any complete application is 

filed with the Town Clerk.    

 

G.  The number of licenses in the Town are limited as follows:  

 

1.   The total number of Retail Marijuana Store licenses combined is limited to 

six (6).  

2.   The total number of Medical Marijuana Store licenses combined is limited   

to six (6).   

 

3.  A licensee and a licensed facility can have both a Retail Marijuana Store 

license and a Medical Marijuana Store license.   However, a licensee cannot hold more than one 

(1) Retail Marijuana Store license and not more than one (1) Medical Marijuana Store license.   

  

4. In no event shall there be more than twelve (12) total licenses issued by 

the Town.   

74



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 9 

 

 

H.  All licensees shall put their license(s) to use within sixty (60) days of issuance.  

Should a license not be put to use sixty (60) days after the issuance date, the license shall be 

forfeited and revert to the Town.  The Town Clerk is granted the authority to effectuate the 

forfeiture and return of any unused licenses.   

 

6-4-110  Signs and advertising. 
   

A. Any person or premises licensed as a retail and/or medical marijuana store shall 

comply with all Town ordinances regulating signs and advertising. In addition, no licensed retail 

and/or medical marijuana store shall use any advertising material that is misleading, deceptive, 

or false, or that, as evidenced either by the content of the advertising material or by the medium 

or the manner in which the advertising is disseminated, is designed to appeal to minors. 

 

B. For purposes of this section, the terms "advertise," "advertising" or 

"advertisement" mean the act of drawing the public's attention to a retail and/or medical 

marijuana store or retail and/or medical marijuana products manufacturer in order to promote the 

sale of retail and/or medical marijuana by the store or the manufacturer. 

  

C. Except as otherwise provided in this Subsection C, it shall be unlawful for any 

person licensed under this Title or any other person to advertise any retail and/or medical 

marijuana or retail and/or medical marijuana product anywhere in the Town where the 

advertisement is visible to members of the public from any street, sidewalk, park or other public 

place, including advertising utilizing any of the following media: any billboard or other outdoor 

general advertising device as defined by the zoning code; any sign mounted on a vehicle, any 

hand-held or other portable sign; or any handbill, leaflet or flier directly handed to any person in 

a public place, left upon a motor vehicle, or posted upon any public or private property without 

the consent of the property owner.  The prohibition set forth in this paragraph shall not apply to: 

 

  1. Any sign located on the same zone lot as a retail and/or medical marijuana 

store which exists solely for the purpose of identifying the location of the retail and/or medical 

marijuana store and which otherwise complies with the Town’s sign code, Chapter 18, Article 6 

of the Town Municipal Code, and any other applicable Town laws and regulations; or 

   

  2. Any advertisement contained within a newspaper, magazine, or other 

periodical of general circulation within the Town;  

   

  3. Advertising which is purely incidental to sponsorship of a charitable event 

by a retail and/or medical marijuana store or a retail and/or medical marijuana products 

manufacturer; or 

 

6-4-120  Denial for good cause. 

 

A. The Board of Trustees shall have authority to refuse to issue or renew any retail 

and/or medical marijuana store license for good cause, subject to judicial review.  For purposes 

of this section, the term “good cause” means: 

75



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 10 

 

  

 1. The applicant has violated, does not meet, or has failed to comply with 

any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code or any rules 

and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, or this Title 4 or any rules and regulations 

promulgated pursuant to this Title; 

 

  2. Evidence that the issuance or renewal of the license will adversely impact 

the health, welfare or public safety of the immediate neighborhood in which the retail and/or 

medical marijuana store is located or is proposed to be located; or 

  

 3. Evidence that the licensee or applicant has failed to comply with any 

special terms or conditions that were placed upon the license pursuant to an order of the State 

Licensing Authority or an order of the Local Licensing Authority. 

 

B. Any decision of the Board of Trustees to approve or deny any license application 

shall be in writing, stating the reasons therefor. 

 

6-4-130  Transfer of ownership.   

 

Transfer of ownership of any local license issued pursuant to this Article 4 shall be 

governed by the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and 

any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer transfers of 

local licenses in the same manner as the state licensing authority administers transfers of state 

licenses.  A license must be held by the licensee for at least one year from the date of issuance by 

the Local Licensing Authority before it may be transferred.   

  

6-4-140  Change of location; modification of premises.   

 

Change of location of any license or any modification of the licensed premises shall be 

governed by the standards and procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and 

any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer applications 

to change location or modify premises in the same manner as the state licensing authority 

administers changes of location and modification of premises for state licenses.  Any proposed 

modification and any new location to which an existing licensed business is transferred shall 

fully comply with the location requirements and the requirements for conformance with current 

zoning as set forth this Title 4. 

 

6-4-150 Term of licenses; renewals.   

 

Any local license issued pursuant to this Title shall be valid for a period of one (1) year 

from the date of issuance.  Any renewal of the license shall be governed by the standards and 

procedures set forth in the Colorado Retail Marijuana Code and any regulations adopted pursuant 

thereto, and the Board of Trustees shall administer license renewals in the same manner as the 

state licensing authority administers renewals of state licenses. An application for renewal shall 

be made to Staff not less than sixty (60) days prior to the date of expiration and concurrent with 

the application for renewal filed with the state licensing authority, as required. 

76



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 11 

 

 

  6-4-160  Suspension or revocation of license. 

  

A. A license may be suspended or revoked by the Board of Trustees for any of the 

following reasons: 

   

  1. Fraud, misrepresentation, or a false statement of material fact contained in 

the license application;  

 

  2. A violation of any Town, State or Federal law or regulation, other than 

federal law or regulation concerning the production, transportation, possession, sale or 

distribution of marijuana that conflicts with Amendment 64;  

 

  3. A violation of any of the terms and conditions of the license, including any 

special conditions of approval imposed upon the license;  

 

4. A violation of any of the provisions set forth in this ordinance; or 

 

5. Cessations of operation at the center for more than thirty (30) days. 

 

  B. The Town shall notify the licensee of the issuance of a show cause order to 

suspend or revoke the license.  Notice shall be given by mailing a copy or served by the Paonia 

Police Department of the order to the licensee by registered mail to the address shown on the 

license.  Notice is deemed to have been properly given upon mailing. 

 

C. A hearing shall then be scheduled before the Board of Trustees within forty-five 

(45) days of the notice of the show cause order.  Such hearing may be continued for good cause. 

The burden of proof at the hearing shall be on the Town. 

 

D. If the Board of Trustees finds a preponderance of the evidence that the allegations 

in the show cause order are sustained, the Board of Trustees shall issue such order in writing to 

the licensee within ten (10) days. 

 

E. Upon such findings, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to revoke, 

suspend, and/or place additional reasonable conditions on the license. 

 

6-4-170  Operating Fees and License Term.   

 

A.  When the application is filed, the applicant shall pay to the Town the applicable 

application and other fees, as set forth by resolution. 

 

  B.  Any renewal application filed late will be subject to a late fee and Staff has no 

authority to waive such late fee. 

 

77



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 12 

 

C.  If an application is approved, the applicant shall pay an annual operating fee, if 

applicable, in such amount as may established from time to time by the Board of Trustees as 

adopted from time to time by Resolution.  

 

D.  Each license issued pursuant to Article 6 shall be valid for a period of one (1) year 

from the date of issuance and may be renewed as provided in this Section.  

 

E. All other fees shall be set by and may be subject to amendment via resolution.  

 

F. All fees shall be non-refundable.  

 

6-4-180  Public nuisance. 
 

A. The unlawful cultivation, manufacturing, sale, offer for sale, or distribution of 

retail and/or medical marijuana without a license is hereby declared to be a nuisance which may 

be abated or otherwise dealt with in accordance with the provisions of the Paonia Municipal 

Code. 

 

6-4-190 Occupational Tax on the sale of marijuana.  

 

 There shall be an occupational tax of Five Dollars ($5.00) per sales transaction on the 

sale of retail and medical marijuana and marijuana products within the Town as further defined 

in Chapter 4 of the Town Code.   

 

6-4-200 Penalty.  

 

 Failure to comply with the provisions of this Chapter 6, Article 4, shall constitute a 

violation, and in addition to being grounds for denial, suspension or revocation of a license, such 

violation may be punished by a civil penalty of not less than Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) 

nor more than Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), per violation.  Each day of noncompliance 

may constitute a separate violation.  Prosecution of a violation of this Chapter 6, Article 4 shall 

be by the Town Municipal Court.   

 

Section 2.  Severability.   

   

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the 

other provisions of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 

application, and, to this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 

Section 3.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.  

 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

 

Section 4.  Ordinance Effect. 
 

78



Ordinance 2021-01 Retail Marijuana Stores  - Page 13 

 

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed; provided, however, that the repeal of any 

ordinance or parts of ordinances of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance 

or ordinances hereto before repealed or superseded, and further provided that this repeal shall not 

affect or prevent the prosecution or punishment of any person for any act done or committed in 

violation of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the taking effect of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 5.  Effective Date. 

 

This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after passage and publication.       

 

INTRODUCED, READ AND REFERRED before the Board of Trustees for the Town of 

Paonia, Colorado, on the 24th day of March2021. 

 

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Town of Paonia Board of Trustees for the 

Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the ____day of _________ 2021. 

  

 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
 

          By: ________________________________ 

    Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Corinne Ferguson, Town/Administrator Clerk 

 

 

 

79



 

March 18, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Large Park Event: The Learning Council - Town Park Farmers Market 

Summary:   

The Learning Council requests the Board approve large park events in Town Park on 

Tuesdays, May 18th through October 12th from 5pm to 8pm. 

 

Notes: 

 

Staff recommends Board approval with the following exceptions: 

 

1. – No additional park reservations are permitted in July at Town Park to allow for 

recovery time and maintenance following the annual Cherry Days and BMW Rally 

events. – An alternative location may be permitted – such as Apple Valley Park. 

 

2. – It may be necessary to relocate the area in the park set-up of the market to the 

football field side to allow for aerating and seeding the park as scheduled maintenance 

for this season. 

 

3. Contingent upon receipt of insurance with Town of Paonia listed as additional insured 

and event payment in the amount of $1,550. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



 

March 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Resolution 2021-05 Local Disaster Declaration Extension 

Summary:   

The current declaration expires March 31st. 

 

Notes: 

 

With the extension of the CVRF grant through end of 2021 and anticipated funding through 

the American Rescue Act staff recommends the Board extend the local disaster declaration 

through end of 2021 – with language included for the amend or rescind at any time deemed 

appropriate by the Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

91



Page 1 of 2 – Extension to Dec 31-2021 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION 2021-05 

 

ORDER DECLARING A LOCAL DISASTER IN AND FOR THE TOWN OF PAONIA 

  

WHEREAS, the Colorado Disaster Emergency Act, C.R.S. § 24-33.5-701, et. seq. (the “Act”), 

provides procedures for statewide and local prevention of, preparation for, response to, and 

recovery from disasters; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709, a local disaster emergency may be declared 

unilaterally by the principal executive officer of a political subdivision; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2-2-20(b) of the Town Municipal Code, the Mayor is designated 

as the executive head of the Town; and 

  

WHEREAS, this Declaration is issued pursuant to the authority granted to the Mayor of the Town 

of Paonia and issued with the approval and support of the Board of Trustees for the Town; and 

   

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, an "emergency" is an unexpected event that places life or 

property in danger and requires an immediate response through the use of state and community 

resources and procedures, and an "emergency epidemic" is cases of an illness or condition, 

communicable or noncommunicable, caused by bioterrorism, pandemic influenza, or novel and 

highly fatal infectious agents or biological toxins; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709, this Declaration activates the response and 

recovery aspects of any applicable disaster emergency plans and authorizes the furnishing of aid 

and assistance under such plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709(1), the declaration of a local emergency shall not 

be continued beyond a period of seven (7) days or removed except by action of the governing 

board of the political subdivision for the Town, the Board of Trustees; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-33.5-709(1), any order declaring, continuing, or terminating 

a local disaster "shall be given prompt and general publicity and shall be filed promptly with the 

county clerk and recorder, the [Town] clerk ... and with the office of emergency management"; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, because of the COVID-19 pandemic, which was recognized by the Governor of the 

State of Colorado on March 10, 2020, the Town is suffering and has suffered a disaster emergency 

as defined in the Act. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED on this 23rd day of March 2021, that a 

disaster emergency is declared and extended in and for the Town of Paonia, beginning on January 

1, 2021, and ending on December 31, 2021 unless extended, rescinded, or amended by action of 

the Board of Trustees for the Town.   

 

92



Page 2 of 2 – Extension to Dec 31-2021 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Declaration shall be given prompt and general 

publicity, filed immediately with the office of the Delta County Emergency Manager and a copy 

filed with the Delta County Clerk and Recorder, as well as to the Colorado Office of Emergency 

Management. 

 
 

 

 
Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 
 

Corinne Ferguson, Town Administrator/Clerk 

93



 

March 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Discussion Requested by Finance and Personnel Committee - Updating 

Board of Trustees Meeting Schedule 

Summary:   

Discussion regarding modifying the current 2nd and 4th Tuesday meeting schedule for the 

Board of Trustees. 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

94



 

March 18, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Discussion - Grand Avenue Street Closure Policies 

Summary:   

Administrators request to begin the discussion of policies regarding street closures – 

specifically Grand Avenue – for local businesses and events. 

 

Notes: 

 

Please find included in the packet the current Municipal Code Chapter 11 Article 1 Section 11-

1-80 linked here: 

https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL_AR

T1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE 

 

regarding street closures and permitting process. The current process allows for up to 5 hours 

street closure, with notification to adjacent property owners.   

 

Historically Grand Avenue has only closed a select few times throughout the year for short 

parades or a special event. 

 

COVID-19 initiated a shift, with more events and businesses requesting street closures and 

downtown outdoor events.  Currently the Town has had entities approach regarding scheduling 

street closures, leading to potentially 18 separate Grand Avenue street closures over the next 

few months. 

 

THIS IS A GREAT THING! 

 

Things are happening for our local businesses, which support this Town. 

 

But we need to be cognizant of any potential negative impacts as well. 

 

I suggest the Board set a work session to review the inconsistencies within the current code as 

well as discuss any limitations or updated regulation for street closures. 

 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

95

https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL_ART1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE
https://library.municode.com/co/paonia/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=CH11STSIPUPL_ART1STSI_S11-1-80STCLPE


Sec. 11-1-80. - Street closure; permit.  

(a)  Persons and/or organizations requesting a parade or other event involving street closure within the 
Town limits must apply in writing to the Town Clerk for a street closure permit. The Town Clerk shall 
submit such application to the Chief of Police for comment and to the Town Manager for review and 
denial or approval by the Town Manager.  

(b)  The issuance of a street closure permit shall be in accordance with applicable provisions herein, the 
provisions for street closure as set forth below, and any applicable provisions of the ordinances of the 
Town regarding the private usage of public property. Such permit is revocable by the Town Manager, 
the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem.  

(c)  The fee and deposit amount for submittal of a street closure permit application will be set by Resolution 
as determined from time-to-time by the Board of Trustees. The deposit shall be returned to the 
applicant subsequent to the event and upon the Town Administrator's determination that the street 
and adjoining area are returned to the same condition as prior to the closure.  

(d)  The application shall be submitted no less than thirty (30) days in advance of the event.  

(e)  The Town Manager shall not approve any street closure if the Town does not have sufficient resources 
to properly manage the event in a manner consistent with the preservation of the public peace, health 
and safety and to provide for adequate traffic control or if an adequate alternate route is not available, 
if applicable.  

(f)  The applicant shall provide proof of a general liability insurance policy in a minimum coverage equal 
to that specified in Section 24-10-114, C.R.S., which names the Town, its officers, agents and 
employees as additional insureds for claims arising out of the event.  

(g)  The closure shall be implemented and the route chosen in a manner that will cause the least 
inconvenience to the driving public, adjacent residents or businesses consistent with the reasonable 
requirements of the event. The applicant shall submit and implement an adequate plan to control and 
organize the event in a manner consistent with all applicable ordinances of the Town.  

(h)  Applicable open container laws within the Town shall apply in all street closure events.  

(i)  The applicant shall also provide, as a requirement of permit issuance, written proof of street closure 
notification to all adjoining property owners and businesses.  

(j)  The applicant shall also provide a detailed description of any vending or commercial activity occurring 
coincident with the event. Separate vending permits shall not be required for all such commercial 
activities so described, but vendors shall be subject to all other permitting requirements, including but 
not limited to sales tax licenses.  

(k)  For street-closure events, the Town shall provide and install barricades, and the applicant shall 
arrange for and provide necessary trash containers.  

(l)  Street closures shall not exceed five (5) hours in duration, except on Sundays and state-recognized 
holidays when closure may occur for up to ten (10) hours.  

(m)  The Town, upon permit approval, shall notify all emergency service providers accordingly.  

(Ord. No. 2002-06, 6-11-2002; Ord. No. 2014-04, § 1, 1-13-2015; Ord. No. 2014-09, § 1(R), 1-

13-2015)  

96



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

97



Mayor’s Report 
 
March 18, 2021 Local Government Coordination call 

 CDPHE update 
o Vaccine sites, both large and small sites 
o J&J vaccine will be available at end of March and through April 
o Open 1B.4 on Friday 

 Stimulus. packages 
o America Rescue Plan and State Recovery Stimulus money have been passed 
o Waiting for details on how and who can apply 

 
March 19, 2021 Epidemiology and Hospital Bi-Weekly Update 
Dr Herlihy State epidemiologist 

 Variants 
o 336 cases of UK variant  
o 11 cases of South African variant (only in Canon City) 
o 225 of CA variant 
o 4 cases of NYC variant 

 New cases plateauing for last few weeks  

 Delta county still in Blue  

 Not a lot of daily changes in most of state 

 Cases among 70+ declining more rapidly than other age groups 

 Several months away from herd immunity 
Scott Bookman COVID Incidence Commander 

 1B.4 opened on 3-19 
o Very large group 

 On edge of large increase in vaccine supply 
o Currently 250,000 doses per week 
o Will ramp up to 350,000-400,000 doses by mid-April 

 Almost 2 million doses administered to date 

 Almost 1 million people fully vaccinated 

 Mass vaccination site planned for Grand Junction when supplies ramp up 
 
March 19, 2021   American Rescue Plan Update 

 All municipalities eligible for direct grant from CV Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
o Not mingled with other aid 
o Protected from county or state interference 

 $130.2 billion for local govt  
o Half to county 
o Half to municipalities 

 $65.1 billion for revenue shortfall 
o 30% of funds, $19.5 billion, for cities less than 50,000 population 
o Grant calculation based on population size alone 

98



o Small city grants cannot be greater than an amount equal to 75% of city’s most 
recent pre-pandemic budget 

 Blunt instrument to overcome unavailability of precise data for small 
localities 

o Grants released in 2 trances: 
 ½ following as soon state/county ready to allocate 
 ½ 1 year after receipt of first payment 
 Must document how spent 

o Spending deadline 12-31-24 or return funds to Treasury 

 Expenditure limits 
o No more restrictive that CVRF funding (business and non-profit support 

grants/loans)  
o Bump up pay for essential workers up to +$13 per hour over current pay 
o Can apply for loss of revenues 
o Can make investments in water, sewer or broadband infrastructure 

 Requirements 
o Can transfer funds to nonprofits 
o 75% cap of most recent pre-COVID budget 
o Can’t use for pension funds 
o Must provide periodic reports  

 Weekly calls on Friday @11:30 pm 

 Principles 
o Save these funds for things not eligible for other federal and state assist 

programs 
o Can use for community needs (food, utility payments, rent, etc.) 
o Use for fiscal stability and return to work 
o Maintain records and document success 
o Include Congressional delegates in successes 

 Patience – guidelines have ways to go 
 

 

99



 

March 17, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

100


	Top
	1.	Cassandra Shenk - Rethinking Conflict
	ASF - Visitors and Guests

	2.	ASF - Staff Reports
	ASF - Staff Reports
	Admin Report
	Admin Report - Enlighten Solar
	2020-05 Tree Board Ordinance_CORRECTED
	032021_Hotchkiss_PaoniaICA_Signed
	20210308 BOT ATTY MEMO (002)
	Watson Letter
	Public Works Report
	Blotter
	20210319 BOT ATTY MEMO

	3.	ASF -Treasurer's Report
	ASF -Treasurer&#39;s Report
	Account Analysis-Jan-Feb_2021
	Disbursements_DRAFT Budget to Actual Jan-Feb_2021

	4.	ASF - Disbursements
	ASF - Disbursements
	Disbursements

	5.	Consent Agenda
	ASF - Consent Agenda
	0309_Draft Minutes
	0316_ Work Session Minutes Draft
	FOTP SEP Application_Redacted
	ThomasWaldos_LiqRenewal_Redacted
	FlyingFork_LiqRenewal_Redacted

	6.	Mj Ordinance
	ASF - MJ Ordinance
	20210319 MJ ORDINANCE 2021-01_FINAL DRAFT

	7.	The Learning Council Large Park Event
	ASF - TLC Large Park Event
	TLC Large Park Event Application_Redacted

	8.	Resolution 2021-05 Local Disaster Declaration Extension
	ASF - Local Disaster Dec
	2021-05 Town Local Disaster Declaration Extension1

	9.	Discussion - Updating Board of Trustees Meeting Schedule
	ASF - F&P Meeting Schedule

	10.	Discussion - Grand Avenue Street Closure Policies
	ASF - Discussion - Grand Avenue Street Closure Policies
	20210318_202050_575533_Sec._11_1_80.___Street_closure__permit.

	11.	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	Mayor report

	12.	ASF -Committee Reports
	ASF -Committee Reports

	Bottom

